Managing Green Infrastructures

Trophic Interactions in Anthropogenic and Natural Ecosystems

Michael Manton

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Management Skinnskatteberg



Licentiate Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Skinnskatteberg 2014 Cover: Predation matters illustration by Mindaugas Ilčiukas. Concept design by Michael Manton.

ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-9257-3 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-9258-0 © 2014 Michael Manton, Skinnskatteberg Print: ASU Publishing Department, Akademija, Kaunas, Lithuania 2014

Managing Green Infrastructure: trophic interactions of anthropogenic and natural ecosystems

Abstract

The term green infrastructure addresses the spatial structure of anthropogenic, seminatural and natural areas, as well as other environmental features which enable society to benefit from ecosystems' multiple services. Focusing on two green infrastructures, anthropogenic wet meadows and natural forest successions, this thesis applies a macroecological approach based on comparisons of multiple landscapes as complex socialecological systems. Firstly, the trophic interactions of avian predation in anthropogenic wet meadows under different management regimes in southern Sweden were explored (Paper I). This study tested the hypothesis that the abundance of avian predators and predation is higher in rapidly declining vs. relatively stable wader populations. Secondly, the trophic interactions of large mammals in Europe's boreal forest biome were explored (paper II). This study tested the hypotheses that reduced numbers of large carnivores and increased numbers of large herbivores affect the recruitment of both ecologically and economically valuable trees, and that forest management intensity is correlated to a reduction in tree recruitment. The results show, firstly, that the abundance of avian predators and predation was higher in rapidly declining wader populations. Secondly, reduced numbers of large carnivores and abundant large herbivore populations were correlated to reduced recruitment of focal tree species. There was no relationship with the index of forest management intensity. To conclude, this thesis illustrates the consequences of disturbed tropic interactions on two different green infrastructures (anthropogenic wet meadows and boreal forests). The governance and management of green infrastructures is thus complex, because both the quantity and quality of land cover, and trophic interactions, need to be considered. This thesis confirms the importance of studying the consequences of altered trophic interactions in multiple landscapes rather than in a single landscape or region alone. Macro-ecological studies comparing countries and regions with different contexts, e.g., landscape history, traditions, governance and management systems, can support the development of more holistic views on the planning and management of green infrastructures.

Keywords: Green infrastructures, Land cover, Habitat, Trophic interactions, Predation, Macro-ecology

Author's address: Michael Manton, SLU, School for Forest Management, P.O. Box 43, SE-739 21 Skinnskatteberg, Sweden *E-mail*:Michael. Manton@ slu.se

Dedication

To my family and friends.

Contents

List o	f Publications	7
1	Introduction	9
1.1	Niches, trophic interactions and habitat	11
1.2	Predator-prey systems	13
1.3	Herbivore-plant systems	13
1.4	Two green infrastructures in focus	14
	1.4.1 Anthropogenic wet meadows	14
	1.4.2 Natural boreal forests	15
1.5	Case study research	15
2	Methodology	19
2.1	Study areas	19
2.2	Methods	21
3	Results	25
3.1	Predators, prey and anthropogenic wet meadows (Paper I)	25
	3.1.1 Breeding wader and the avian predator trends	25
	3.1.2 Relative abundance of avian predators and waders	26
	3.1.3 Landscape avian predator counts	27
	3.1.4 Artificial nest predation	28
3.2	Predators, prey and boreal forest (Paper II)	29
	3.2.1 Carnivores, herbivores and forest management intensity	29
	3.2.2 Browsing damage analyses	32
4	Discussion	37
4.1	Predators, prey and anthropogenic wet meadows (Paper I)	37
4.2	Predators, prey and boreal forests (Paper II)	37
4.3	Trophic interaction in space and time	38
4.4	Green infrastructures in space and time	39
4.5	Diagnosis of ecosystem as a base for learning	40
5	Conclusions	43
Refer	ences	45
Ackno	owledgements	55

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Manton, M., Angelstam, P., Milberg. M. and Elbakidze, M. Governance and management of green infrastructures for ecological sustainability: wader bird conservation in southern Sweden as a case study. (manuscript).
- II Angelstam, P., Manton, M., Pedersen, S., Shakun, V. and Elbakidze, M. Disrupted trophic interactions affect recruitment of key-stone boreal deciduous and coniferous trees in northern Europe. (manuscript).

The contribution of Michael Manton to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

I 80%

II 45%

1 Introduction

Natural capital is the stock of natural ecosystems that yields a flow of valuable ecosystem goods or services into the future (Costanza & Daly, 1992). Natural resource management practices, such as forestry, agriculture and mineral extraction, generally result in a decline in natural capital at multiple scales (Gergle & Turner, 2001; Young, 2000; Antrop, 1993). A wide range of studies in Europe have indicated that intensified management and use of different land covers (forests, meadows, wetlands and etc.) can cause reductions in different components of biodiversity (Noss, 1990). This applies to species, anthropogenic and natural habitats as well as important ecosystem processes (Brumelis et al., 2011; Angelstam et al., 2004b; Shorohova & Tetioukhin, 2004; Siitonen, 2001; Mikusiński & Angelstam, 1999; Esseen et al., 1997). In conjunction with the continuing expansion of intensified land management, transport infrastructure and urban areas, important abiotic and biotic processes are directly and indirectly affected (Angelstam et al., 2004c) resulting in a reduction of species specialising on natural habitat dynamics (Mikusiński & Angelstam, 1998).

To counteract the degradation and loss of compositional, structural and functional biodiversity elements of green infrastructures, a variety of policies at multiple levels have been proposed and implemented (Tzoulas *et al.*, 2007; Larsson *et al.*, 2001; Raivio *et al.*, 2001). The policy concept "Green Infrastructure" captures the need to secure natural capital, due to the wide range of services that ecosystems provide (European Commission, 2013). The ecosystem services concept considers the values of anthropogenic, semi-natural and natural ecosystems for both biodiversity and human well-being (European Commission, 2013). The importance of the ecosystem services concept has been widely accepted at both international and local levels (Kumar, 2010; TEEB, 2010). There are various definitions of the ecosystem services approach (Fisher *et al.*, 2009). However, they all consider the various goods, services and values of ecosystems for humankind (Kumar, 2010; TEEB, 2010; de Groot

et al., 2002; Costanza et al., 1997; Daily et al., 1997). The ecosystem services are broadly classified into four main categories (1) Provisioning Services - as resources provided by nature, (2) Regulating Services – how nature regulates natural occurrences, (3) Cultural Services - intangible benefits based on peoples beliefs and the benefits they obtain, and (4) Supporting (or habitat, see TEEB, 2010) Services – strengthens the other services and provides habitat to support life (Kumar, 2010). These services are maintained in networks of natural and semi-natural areas, i.e. green infrastructures, which comprise of both blue (water) and green (land cover) components (Benedict & McMahon, 2002). Thus, the green infrastructure concept attempts to convey ecological, economic and social benefits of nature to humans (Andersson et al., 2014; Tzoulas *et al.*, 2007). Conversely, policies such as the European Union's (EU) green infrastructure policy, may aid in securing biodiversity and suitable habitats for species. However, this requires assessment as to whether or not ecosystems form functional representative land covers in terms of patch quality, size, and their connectivity in sufficient amounts to form functional habitat networks, i.e. green infrastructures (Angelstam & Andersson, 2001; Opdam et al., 1995).

To conserve anthropogenic and semi-natural land covers requires active ongoing management, whereas natural land covers may be conserved by networks of protected areas if natural processes are allowed, facilitated and enhanced (Angelstam, 2006). Forests and wet meadows are examples of land covers that can exist in both highly anthropogenic and natural systems. Nevertheless, the habitat of particular species may include factors other than just land cover. Composition, structure and function of green infrastructures can be influenced by individual species in different ways (Westman, 1990). Thus, in addition to the spatial structure of natural and semi-natural land covers, both anthropogenic and natural processes need to be understood at multiple spatial scales from patches and landscapes to regions and countries (European Commission, 2013). For example, species other than the target or focal species need to be considered, such as their predators, prey and competitors, as well as the ultimate reasons for their current and historic status and trends. Accordingly, green infrastructure is more than just land cover and requires a comprehensive understanding of social-ecological systems to aid in the protecting, conserving and enhancing of natural capital for both biodiversity and human society. Therefore, the management of landscapes and green infrastructures need to be integrated among owners, multiple sectors, levels of governance and land use.

The aim of thesis is to explore the role of trophic interactions as factors affecting the functionality of anthropogenic and natural green infrastructures.

To fulfil this aim, macro-ecological research approaches were employed by investigating the trophic interactions linked to two conservation priorities in Europe. Firstly, the roles of avian predation on anthropogenic wet meadows under different management regimes in southern Sweden were explored (Paper I). This study tested predictions that the abundance of avian predators and predation should be higher in rapidly declining vs. relatively stable wader populations. Secondly, an investigation was undertaken among regional landscapes in Europe's boreal forest biome to test the hypothesis that disrupted trophic interactions affect the recruitment of key-stone deciduous trees and the economically important Scots pine (Paper II). This study explored two predictions: (1) that reduced number of large carnivore species is correlated to increased large herbivore abundance and reduced recruitment of deciduous tree species and Scots pine reaching maturity; and (2) that forest management intensity is correlated to reduced recruitment of deciduous tree species.

1.1 Niches, trophic interactions and habitat

Niche, trophic interactions and habitat are three of the most common and important terms used in ecology, but at the same time easily and most often confused or misinterpreted (Kearney, 2006; Hall *et al.*, 1997; Whittaker *et al.*, 1973).

An ecological niche is defined as the position or functions of a given species within its ecosystem, and should apply solely to the intra community role of the species (Whittaker *et al.*, 1973). Niches can be filled by competing species (Caro & Stoner, 2003). For example, wolves (*Canis lupus*), lynx (*Lynx lynx*) and bears (*Ursus arctos*) are top predators of northern Europe that share similar ecological niches (Mech & Boitani, 2010). By sharing the same ecological niches, these species compete directly with each other for resources (i.e. space, food supply, breeding locations). Although these top predators share an ecological niche they can co-exist as their trophic interactions differ (Pasanen Mortensen, 2014; Schmidt *et al.*, 2009).

Trophic interactions relate to the food chain or food web and consist of multiple levels (i.e., the position an organism occupies in the food chain) (Elton, 1927). The levels and linkages of the food chains can have both one-way, two way or multiple connections. Ecosystems with higher biodiversity generally have more complex trophic interaction pathways (Paine, 1980). Ecosystems are organised by internal and cross species relationships, and abiotic and biotic factors (Nilsson & Ericson, 1997). Both bottom up and top down processes of ecosystems are important and changes in either may result in a cascade of effects (Pasanen Mortensen, 2014; Carpenter *et al.*, 1985;

Oksanen *et al.*, 1981). The relationship between predators, prey and associated cascading effects are known as trophic interactions, and may be influenced by human activity. Trophic cascades are defined as give-and-take predator-prey effects that may change the abundance, biomass or dynamics of a population or trophic level across multiple linkages in a food web (Carpenter *et al.*, 1985). Trophic cascades may originate from any level of the food web but is most often related to large predators (Pace *et al.*, 1999). Interspecific competition between predators is also an important consideration among trophic interactions and is a common occurrence in predators (Pasanen-Mortensen *et al.*, 2013; Donadio & Buskirk, 2006). Therefore, trophic interaction and their cascading effects may play an important role in the management of habitats and species conservation.

Habitat is defined as resources and conditions present in an environment that produces occupancy, including survival and reproduction, by a particular species (Hall et al., 1997). Habitat is specific to a particular species, or populations within a species' distribution range, and can consist of singular or multiple vegetation types and vary in configuration, structure and characteristics. Habitat is therefore about the combination of resources and climatic conditions, required by any given species and the interaction with competition and predators (Franklin et al., 2002). Also of importance is habitat quality, which is a continuous variable that can range from low to high based on the environmental conditions appropriate for both individual species and population persistence (Franklin et al., 2002; Hall et al., 1997; Van Horne, 1983). When considering habitat it is also important to understand the summer and winter migration ranges and to the degree in which these different habitats influence species and their mean relative fitness (Van Horne, 1983). Therefore, habitat is thus not only about patch quality and size linked to vegetation characteristics, but also involves trophic interactions, such as predation (Eglington et al., 2008; Van Horne, 1983). Just because a green infrastructure is suitable habitat for a variety of species at a particular time does not mean it will continue to remain suitable. For example, if a land manger decides to alter a land cover or its surrounding area and these modifications alter the structure and quality of the habitat and or the surrounding area, then the given species requirements may no longer be met. Thus niches, tropic interactions and habitats are interconnected and include many factors other than just land cover.

1.2 Predator-prey systems

Whilst there are arguments among stakeholders and actors both for and against the conservation of large carnivores, predator-prey-vegetation interactions are generally overlooked. Trophic interactions extend throughout all trophic levels and the loss of key-stone species (Estes *et al.*, 2011; Simberloff, 1998), such as large terrestrial predators, in an ecosystem may cause cascading effects (Säterberg *et al.*, 2013; Ripple & Beschta, 2004). This includes large herbivore densities due to improved survival (Edenius *et al.*, 2002). In northern Europe the increased populations of moose (*Alces alces*), red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) and roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) (Côté *et al.*, 2004) have considerably impacted field layer vegetation and structure (Putman *et al.*, 2011; Gordon & Prins, 2008), tree recruitment and the composition of tree species in stands (Müller *et al.*, 2014). This may in turn affect the amount and quality of habitat for other species.

Thus, the loss of predators and increased densities of prey and the associated cascading effects are good examples of large-scale challenges for natural resource managers and conservationists. On the other hand increased populations of predators and losses in prey may also affect the trophic interactions of species at various levels. For example, species can inadvertently interfere with each other's food source and may be driven into new environments in a bid to survive (Abrams & Ginzburg, 2000). Therefore, the consideration of trophic interactions at more than two levels is extremely important. Upon understanding the trophic interactions of such systems one should not only try to understand distribution and abundance of both predators and prey, but also the carrying capacity and impacts on habitat, vegetation and competition, as well as the cascading effects on species and ecosystems (Leopold, 1933).

1.3 Herbivore-plant systems

The interrelationships between herbivores and plant systems are complex involving flora, fauna, climate and soils as well as other factors (Augustine & McNaughton, 1998). Changes in any of these factors may influence plant community structure and function, animal foraging strategies and ecology, and ecosystem processes (Hodgson & Illius, 1996). In anthropogenic land covers, such as wet meadows, changes in species and grazing intensity often directly results in the transition of grass swards, composition and structure and alters soil composition (Durant *et al.*, 2008; Briske, 1996; Belsky, 1992). In turn this may affect small invertebrates and their predators, such as waders

(Schekkerman, 2008). The herbivore plant relationship in forest ecosystems are as equally important and most often involves the replacement of early successional species (e.g., aspen (*Populus tremula*), rowan (*Sorbus aucuparia*) and sallow (*Salix* spp.) with later successional species (e.g., spruce (*Picea abies*) (Hester *et al.*, 2006). As the primary affect is on the juvenile stages, many early successional trees do not reach maturity, and in turn implications may occur in mature tree species composition, species habitats and the nutrient cycle (Augustine & McNaughton, 1998). Conversely, should management practices of green infrastructures be reduced or intensified, changes in habitat and ecosystem process may lead to vulnerabilities in species survival (Ihse, 1995).

Many plants have evolved various resistance strategies to counteract the effects from herbivores (Kennedy & Barbour, 1992). Likewise, many herbivores have developed preference for specific types of vegetation, and have even evolved with the defence strategies of plants (Meijden *et al.*, 1988). The interactions of two or more herbivore species can potentially increase the pressure on plant species and communities at both patch and landscape scales (Latham, 1999; Briske, 1996). Herbivore browsing or grazing can result in both positive and negative changes in plant communities through various direct and indirect processes. However, the results on individual plants are most often negative resulting from biomass removal. There is increasing evidence that the abundance and breeding success of species, such as woodpeckers in forest habitats, are not only dependent on processes within their niche, but also on processes and quality of habitat within the surrounding landscape (Fahrig, 2003; Baillie *et al.*, 2000).

1.4 Two green infrastructures in focus

1.4.1 Anthropogenic wet meadows

Historically, grazing and mowing of wet meadows has expanded at the expense of naturally dynamic land covers, resulting in a cultural landscape (Antrop, 1993). Wet meadows, traditionally managed to provide grazing and hay for domestic animals is a good example. Being biologically high in productivity, naturally dynamic wet meadows were thus expanded during the millennia. However, with the advent of modern agriculture based on effective crop production and economic profit, wet meadows have been severely reduced by draining, water regulation as well as the creation of dykes and polders (Beintema, 1986). Increased operating applications and land management shifts, from small scale to large scale operations, have contributed to development outcomes where wetland biota has suffered from habitat degradation, fragmentation and loss. This means that wet meadows need to be subject to ongoing conservation management to maintain their biodiversity values. Mowing grass, removing encroaching shrubs and regulating water levels are three examples of efforts to maintain appropriate land covers for wader birds. However, recent studies have shown that not only land cover amount and quality is important for wader bird conservation, but also predation (Wilson *et al.*, 2014; Pearce-Higgins & Grant, 2006; Ottvall, 2005; Dyrcz *et al.*, 1981).

1.4.2 Natural boreal forests

Forest ecosystems in Scandinavia have undergone immense changes throughout the last two centuries in a drive to produce more timber, pulpwood and bioenergy (Ericsson et al., 2000). Conversely, during the same timeframe carnivore numbers, browsing pressure and hunting quotes have changed, which may also influence forest ecosystems. Northern European forests range from plantations of introduced species to protected area that host similar characteristics found in naturally occurring landscapes (Mikusiński & Angelstam, 2004; Angelstam et al., 1997). This intensified forest management is negatively affecting biodiversity, by reducing natural forest components (Larsson et al., 2001; McComb & Lindenmayer, 1999). At the stand scale, studies on northern European boreal forest history gradients have shown coniferous forest types have been promoted at the expense of deciduous stands resulting in an up to 90% decline in deciduous tree species (Shorohova & Tetioukhin, 2004; Mikusiński & Angelstam, 1999). At the landscape scale important abiotic and biotic processes have also been changed. As a consequence the amount of deciduous and old growth forests habitats suitable for specialised species has declined (Aakala, 2011; Angelstam *et al.*, 2011a; Lõhmus & Lõhmus. 2011: Mikusiński & Angelstam. 1998: Esseen et al., 1997).

1.5 Case study research

Case study research is a strategy that focuses on understanding the dynamics present within a single settings (Eisenhardt, 1989). Even though case studies are often viewed as controversial and misleading (e.g., Flyvbjerg, 2006; Yin, 1981), case study research is an appropriate and essential method to undertake important scientific research to understand the dynamics within both singular and multiple settings and in multidisciplinary sciences (Angelstam *et al.*, 2013a; Flyvbjerg, 2011; Flyvbjerg, 2006; Eisenhardt, 1989). Specifically, case

studies provide reliability, validity and a sound concept that can help scientists understand hypotheses on tangible circumstances (Stryamets, 2012; Flyvbjerg, 2006) and are used to develop theories, test hypotheses and provide descriptions of different settings. Collected qualitative or quantitative evidence may be obtained from fieldwork, desktop studies, verbal reports, observations, or any combination of these (Eisenhardt, 1989; Yin, 1981). Case studies can provide an opportunity to undertake research experiments in both historic and current situations. The distinguishing aspect of a case study is that it foresees the examination of a contemporary phenomenon in its actual context, especially when the limitations between phenomenon and context are not visible (Yin, 1981).

The use of entire landscapes as case studies to investigate, test hypotheses and compare results of species interactions and subsequent effects is an appropriate method to study trophic interactions in the context of green infrastructure governance and management. With both focal avian and large carnivore predators and herbivore species requiring large home ranges, the comparison of local habitat patches alone is insufficient. Therefore, sufficiently large areas with a variety of different green infrastructure, habitat quality and different species need to be compared to understand the trophic interactions of focal species, their competitors and predators. Thus, a landscape scale approach should be considered (e.g., Baillie et al., 2000), which is linked to species' life history traits (Wiens, 1989). In an analysis of relationships between land cover and fragmentation versus occurrence of avian and mammalian predators using multiple landscapes, Angelstam et al. (2004b) and Mikusiński and Angelstam (2004) used sampling areas of ca. 100 km² and 2500 km², respectively and stress the need to continue studies at varying landscape scales.

It is important to appreciate the multitude of different landscapes under an array of landscape histories as well as governance arrangements in Europe. These differences have contributed to unique local ecological, economic and socio-cultural environments, which can be used as a 'time machine' (Angelstam, 2001) to help understand the effects humans have on the environment (Angelstam *et al.*, 2011b; Angelstam & Elbakidze, 2006). This diversity in landscape history and governance settings provides a unique situation to learn from the consequences of the past and present to help develop knowledge for society and species conservation and thus better sustainability (Elbakidze *et al.*, 2010).

With policy and management of wildlife and green infrastructure varying only slightly or being the same within landscapes and regions of a country, local relationships between predator, prey and competition, have limited

variation (Månsson et al., 2007). The policy and management outcomes in Scandinavia have led to relatively homogenous ecosystems with little differences in vegetation composition, structure and biodiversity (Danilov, 1987; Nygrén, 1987). As a consequence, many specialised species such as waders and large predators have become rare and endangered (Angelstam et al., 1997; Esseen et al., 1997). In comparison, eastern countries of northern Europe have less intensive land management histories (Angelstam & Dönz-Breuss, 2004; Puumalainen et al., 2003). As a result these countries still host a variety of species that are often locally extinct or critically declining in Scandinavia (Angelstam et al., 2004c). Hence, the diversity of contexts linked to landscape history and governance arrangements on the European continent provides ample opportunity for replicated case studies of both wetlands and forest landscapes as social-ecological systems. This context is appropriate for macro-ecological studies that trade off the precision of small-scale research with an appropriate spatial scale (Brown, 1995). Comparative studies of multiple landscapes with different governance contexts can deliver results and shortcuts to develop both knowledge and societal learning processes toward sustainability (Angelstam et al., 2013a; Angelstam et al., 2013b; Angelstam et al., 2011b). Moreover, Angelstam et al. (2004a) suggests international collaboration and networks of interdisciplinary professionals exploring landscape management may ensure green infrastructures are re-established in previous areas and preserved in areas where they occur. Thus, Europe's SW -NE gradient should be used to compare local knowledge, experience and insights on landscape processes in different countries. However, studies that examine the effects of altered trophic interaction at landscape scales spanning across ecoregions are limited. Studying predator-prey relationships across a gradient of different landscapes may aid actors and stakeholders to develop a better understanding of disrupted trophic interactions, different management regimes and lead to mutual knowledge transfer.

2 Methodology

2.1 Study areas

To study the trophic interactions of predators and prey, as well as associated the cascading effects within anthropogenic and natural green infrastructures, a multitude of case studies were undertaken throughout northern Europe (Figure 1, Table 1).

Firstly two regional study areas were selected in southern Sweden (Paper I). These include (A) a specially managed inland wetlands system in Kristianstad municipality, and, (B) a series of three wetland systems in Östergötland County, i.e. Lake Tåkern, Lake Roxen and the inner Bråviken Bay in the Baltic Sea. The Kristianstad municipality which contains the acclaimed Kristianstad Vattenrike Biosphere Reserve is specifically managed for ecological, economic and social sustainable development. The wetlands of Östergötland County are governed and managed under normal Swedish regulations.

Secondly, ten case study areas located throughout the boreal forest zone were selected to cover the full gradient of species richness of large carnivores and herbivores (Paper II). The study areas ranged from Vestfold near Oslo in Norway, to the Komi Republic, Russia in the European boreal forest region. The chosen study areas also reflect a gradient of unique governance and management histories across countries, thus providing a broad range of past and present land management outcomes and settings.

Country	Study area	Location (lat/long)	Forest % per (100 x 100 km ²)	Altitude (m) ²	Human population density (n/km ²) ³
Sweden	Kristianstad (Kr)	61 19 91 N, 13 77 65 E	31	0-203	70.2
Sweden	Östergötland (Ög)	64 86 64 N, 15 15 15 E	37	0-248	49.2
Norway	Vestfold (VE)	59 22 40 N, 10 07 10 E	46	0-1074	106.8
Norway	Østerdalen (ØS)	61 39 37 N, 10 39 48 E	27	160-2020	3.2
Sweden	Bergslagen (BE)	59 57 20 N, 14 30 20 E	65	200-400	12.6
Sweden	Asa (AS)	57 15 45 N, 14 36 33 E	61	133-368	27.4
Latvia	Smiltene (SM)	57 17 01 N, 26 14 27 E	51	42-276	13.5
Belarus	Ostrovets (OS)	54 33 58 N, 26 04 56 E	37	117-318	36.5
Belarus	Novogrudok (NO)	53 40 57 N, 26 18 20 E	31	116-311	29.6
Russian Federation	Pskov (PS)	58 22 01 N, 29 09 08 E	65	30-190	8.1
Finland	Ilomantsi (IL)	62 42 58 N, 31 06 58 E	55	68-324	3.0
Russian Federation	Komi (KO)	61 53 22 N, 52 09 39 E	67	72-263	11.9

Table 1. Description of the study areas used in this thesis for northern Europe.

¹ Hansen *et al.* (2013)
² Jarvis *et al.* (2008)
³ Columbia University *et al.* (2011) and Balk *et al.* (2006)



Figure 1. Map of northern Europe showing the areas of study (for abbreviations see Table 1).

2.2 Methods

To test the hypotheses the trophic interactions of predators and prey, and the associated cascading effects within anthropogenic and natural green infrastructures, two distinct studies were undertaken.

Firstly, a desktop study and three experiments on the trophic interactions of breeding waders (*Charadrii*) and avian predators (corvid birds and birds of prey) were explored on differently governed and managed anthropogenic wet meadows in southern Sweden.

- 1. A desktop study was undertaken on the population trends of breeding waders and the avian predator assemblages.
- 2. At the beginning of the wader breeding season in April 2013, observational counts of all waders, corvids and birds of prey was performed by undertaking a 30-minute 360 degree point sweep using binoculars and a spotting scope at the wet meadows of Kristianstad and Östergötland. The field observations were undertaken in succession over a two week period from dawn to mid-afternoon under favourable weather conditions. The wet meadows of Kristianstad were observed first with the wet meadows of Östergötland undertaken the following week. From the observational counts

an index of predation pressure, was calculated separately for corvids and birds of prey and expressed as the ratio of predators to the sum of predators and waders. Using the software Comprehensive Meta-Analysis 2.2 (www.meta-analysis.com), an overall average predation pressure index for Kristianstad and Östergötland using the random model was calculated.

- 3. During the latter part of the breeding period, 180 avian predator observational counts were conducted in each of the Kristianstad and Östergötland study areas (Total = 360). Using a Geographical Information System (GIS) (ESRI, 2012) and land cover data from the Swedish Land Surveying Authority six main land cover types were identified (1) wet meadows, (2) urban areas (>40% coverage), (3) agricultural fields (forest cover $\sim 0\%$), (4) mixed field and forest (forest cover 5-20%), (5) mixed forest and field (forest cover 40-60%) and (6) forests (forest cover >80-95%). The forest land cover type intervals were chosen to reflect clearly fragmented areas (i.e. <20% forest cover), mixed forest and open areas, and contiguous forest (Fahrig, 2003). Using this landscape data and a 1-km grid overlay I randomly selected 30 observational locations for each land cover type per study area. At the centre of each selected grid cell a 5-minute, continuous 360 degree point sweep with binoculars was undertaken to count all corvid birds and birds of prey. The point counts were undertaken in succession during June 3-17, 2013. Field work was suspended in adverse weather conditions, such as when windy and rainy. Average counts per land cover type were calculated on ln(1+x)-transformed data, and then backtransformed for display purpose.
- 4. Following Pehlak and Lõhmus (2008), an experiment on the predation of artificial wader nests was undertaken June 3-17, 2013. In each of the study areas, I randomly selected five open wet meadows and five open agricultural fields with a vegetation height of 0-30 cm suitable for wader breeding (Smart et al., 2006). Within each of the selected wet meadows and open agricultural fields ten artificial wader nests were placed at night > 100m apart, each nest contained two brown chicken eggs (cf., Angelstam, 1986). The aim was to simulate wader nests, which are simply eggs laid on the ground. Each nest was then inspected for predation during the night after 5 and 10 days, respectively (Wilson et al., 2007; Ottvall & Smith, 2006). To establish the perpetrator, signs such as peck holes, feathers, footprints, tyre tracks or farming operations (e.g., slashing and ploughing) were identified. Site-wise nest predation data were entered into a metaanalysis that then estimated the predation (event rate) in Kristianstad and Östergötland using the random model and the software Comprehensive Meta-Analysis.

Secondly, a two staged study on the trophic interactions of large mammals and herbivores, and their effects on tree recruitment for forest management and biodiversity across Europe's boreal biome were explored.

- 1. A desk top study using GIS (ESRI, 2012) was undertaken to create coarse index maps (50 km x 50 km) on the occurrence of both large carnivores (Kaczensky *et al.*, 2012) and large herbivores (IUCN, 2014), and forest management intensity using data on forest loss (Hansen *et al.*, 2013) to provide a proxy of the broad scale forest management trends. Forest loss refers to an area of forest, harvested or loss by a natural event, such as a fire or windthrow that contributes to young browse.
- 2. To assess the cascading effects on four young boreal forest species, field work measuring tree recruitment was undertaken at 600 points within 10 study areas (10 study areas x 10 stands x 6 survey points). To assess the impact of trophic interactions affecting the recruitment of young trees into mature trees, the accumulated browsing damages on young aspen, rowan and sallow and young Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) were measured. A statistical analysis of the collected data was undertaken to understand what factors affect browsing damages on young trees of species that are preferred by large herbivore, specifically moose, in the ten study areas. Analyses of the entire data set of 10 study area replicates were undertaken by firstly testing the hypotheses that large herbivore abundance and forest management intensity, respectively, is related to mean damage levels among the study area replicates, and secondly making an ordination using PCA.

3 Results

3.1 Predators, prey and anthropogenic wet meadows (Paper I)

3.1.1 Breeding wader and the avian predator trends

The breeding wader population trends were clearly negative in Kristianstad, while the trends for Östergötland were relatively stable to slightly decreasing (Table 2).

Table 2. Annual rate of change of waders at the wet meadow sites in Kristianstad, and the three areas in Östergötland. Data extracted from Cronert (2014) for Kristianstad and Bergner (2013) for Östergötland.

	Body mass (g/ha)	SE	Metabolic weight (g/ha)	SE	Nests (No./ha)	SE
Kristianstad ¹	-27.367	2.452	-4.808	0.488	-0.061	0.007
Ög Roxen ²	0.929	0.150	0.199	0.061	0.004	0.002
Ög Tåkern ³	-8.667	2.660	-1.723	0.499	-0.010	0.005
Ög Bråviken ⁴	1.930	-	0.368	-	0.005	-

The desktop study on avian predator assemblages and their population trends showed that the populations of both corvids and birds of prey have generally increased in numbers over the past 30 years (Table 3). During the winter months all corvids are resident with both areas providing important wintering grounds for a number of birds of prey.

Table 3. Summary of avian predator assemblages for Kristianstad (Kr) and Östergötland (Ög) and the 10 and 30 year population trends for southern Sweden.Trends, $\uparrow + =$ Large increase, $\uparrow =$ Slight increase, $\leftrightarrow =$ Stable, $\downarrow =$ Slight decline, $\downarrow - =$ Large decline. $^{I}=$ (Ottvall et al., 2009),Waders in Diet A = Adults, E = Eggs and Y = Young. Status R = Resident, B = Breeding and M = Migrating. $^{2}=$ (Cramp, 1980) $^{3} =$ (Cramp et al., 1980), $^{4}=$ (Svensson et al., 2009).

Species	Trer	ds 1	in	Status ² , ³ , ⁴	
			Diet ² , ³		
Corvids	1996- 2006	1977- 2006		Kr	Ög
Magpie (Pica pica)	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	Ε, Υ	R	R
Jay (Garrulus glandarius)	Ŷ	\downarrow	Ε, Υ	R	R
Jackdaw (Corvus monedula)	↑	1	Ε, Υ	R	R
Rook (Corvus frugilegus)	$\uparrow +$	\leftrightarrow	Α, Ε, Υ	R	R
Hooded Crow (Corvus cornix)	\downarrow	\downarrow	Α, Ε, Υ	R	R
Raven (Corvus corax)	$\uparrow +$	\leftrightarrow	Α, Ε, Υ	R	R
Birds of prey					
White-tailed Eagle (Haliaetus albicilla)	$\uparrow +$	^+	A, E, Y	R	В
Osprey (Pandion haliaetus)	\leftrightarrow	$\uparrow +$	Fish	В	В
Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos)	↑	1	Adults	R	R
Red Kite (Milvus milvus)	$\uparrow +$	$\uparrow +$	Α, Ε, Υ	В	М
Marsh Harrier (Circus aeruginosus)	\leftrightarrow	$\uparrow +$	Α, Ε, Υ	В	В
Hen Harrier (Circus cyaneus)	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	Α, Ε, Υ	М	В
Montagu's Harrier (Circus pygargus)	\downarrow	\downarrow	Α, Ε, Υ	В	В
Rough-legged Buzzard (Buteo lagopus)	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	A,Y	Μ	М
Buzzard (Buteo buteo)	↑	\leftrightarrow	A,Y	В	В
Honey Buzzard (Pernis apivorus)	\leftrightarrow	↓-	Insects	В	В
Sparrowhawk (Accipiter nisus)	↑	1	Α, Υ	R	R
Goshawk (Accipiter gentilis)	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	Α, Υ	R	R
Kestrel (Falco tinnunculus)	$\uparrow +$	$\uparrow +$	A, Y	В	В
Hobby (Falco subbuteo)	↑	\leftrightarrow	A, Y	В	В
Peregrine (Falco peregrinus)	$\uparrow +$	$\uparrow +$	Α, Υ	R	R
Merlin (Falco columbarius)	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	Α, Υ	В	М

3.1.2 Relative abundance of avian predators and waders

The corvid index of predation pressure was three times higher on the wet meadows in Kristianstad compared to Östergötland. However, the index of predation pressure for birds of prey was similar in each study area (Figure 2). During the relative abundance field work a total of 11 species among 517 wader individuals, 6 corvid species among 556 individuals, and 6 birds of prey species among 66 individuals, were observed.



Figure 2. Avian predator pressure index (ratio between the predators divided by the sum of predators and waders) in the two study areas; error bars indicate CI95%. Numbers to the right indicate estimates with CI95% to allow inclusion in future meta-analyses.

3.1.3 Landscape avian predator counts

Mean corvid numbers were higher in Kristianstad compared to Östergötland for all land cover strata, and significantly higher for wet meadows and urban areas (Figure 3). Birds of prey also exhibited higher mean numbers in Kristianstad compared to Östergötland for all land covers except for the land class with >80% forest cover. However, the confidence intervals overlapped for the other land covers (Figure 3). In total 6 corvid species among 2695 individuals, and 7 birds of prey species among 88 individuals, were observed during the landscape avian predator counts.



Figure 3. Number of corvid observations per survey plot (left) and probability of observing birds of prey (right) by land cover classes in Kristianstad and Östergötland. Error bars indicate Cl_{95%}.

3.1.4 Artificial nest predation

The predation rates on artificial nests over the 10-day period were on average 95% in the Kristianstad vs. 36% in Östergötland. This applied both to wet meadows and agricultural fields (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Proportion of predated artificial nests on wet meadows and agricultural fields in Kristianstad (Kr) and Östergötland (Ög). Error bars indicate CI_{95%}. Numbers to the right indicate estimates with CI_{95%} to allow inclusion in future meta-analyses.

The cause of predation/destruction of artificial nests was often visible. Avian predators, mammals, livestock and human farming practices contributed to the demise of the artificial nests (Figure 5). Nevertheless, a high proportion of the preyed upon eggs were unknown. Even though the majority of the eggs were gone with no obvious signs we assume that the eggs were preyed upon by either avian predators or small mammals. During the field work, observations of crows traversing the sky carrying unknown eggs and foxes frolicking in the vicinity of some egg predation experiments were noted.



□Unknown ■Avian ■Farming machinery □Mammal ■Livestock

Figure 5. Proportions of nest loss types recorded among land covers in Kristianstad and Östergötland.

3.2 Predators, prey and boreal forest (Paper II)

3.2.1 Carnivores, herbivores and forest management intensity

There was a clear gradient from SW to NE Europe in the current species richness of large carnivores (Figure 6). NW Russia, most of Finland and Estonia share a contiguous area with brown bear, wolf and lynx. Central Sweden and Norway share isolated populations of the same species.

The number of large herbivore species decreased from SW to NE in northern Europe (Figure 7), and was thus opposite to the trend for large carnivore species. The herbivore index decreased from west to east (F = 9.06, df = 9, p < 0.001, Table 4). Moose was the dominant contributor to this index, and the number of moose pellet piles was heterogeneous among the 10 study areas measured ($\chi 2 = 74.06$, df = 9, p < 0.001), except for Vestfold in Norway, with an overall decrease from west to east (Table 4).

Table 4. Properties of the 10 study areas (for abbreviations, see Table 1). (1) Large herbivore index (**LH index**) and the percentage contribution of the surveyed cervid species to this index (**Moose %**, **Red deer % and Roe deer %**). (2) mean (\pm 95% CI) number of pellet piles of moose (**Moose pellets**), field layer food (**Field layer**) (dm³ per 100 m²) and tree layer food (**Tree layer**) (m³ per 100 m²)(3) the average number of carnivore (**Carn sp**) and herbivore (**Herb sp**) species in the local landscape based on data from Figure 6 and 7. (4) forest management intensity (**Formanint**) from Figure 8. (mean forest loss yr⁻¹).

Study	LH index	Moose	Red	Roe	Moose	Field layer	Tree layer	Carn	Herb	Formanint
Area			deer	deer	pellets			sp	sp	
VE	0.07 (0.07)	100	0	0	0.20 (0.19)	9.4 (5.0)	13.93 (3.42)	1.6	3.0	0.27
ØS	0.56 (0.18)	100	0	0	1.62 (0.53)	60.5 (15.0)	0.81 (0.18)	3.0	3.0	0.22
BE	0.42 (0.12)	99.2		0.01	1.20 (0.35)	68.1 (23.7)	0.81 (0.18)	2.9	3.0	0.74
AS	0.16 (0.11)	81.6	0	18.3	0.45 (0.33)	12.8 (8.8)	4.00 (1.12)	1.0	3.0	0.89
SM	0.05 (0.04)	72.1	9.2	18.8	0.12 (0.10)	22.7 (8.5)	4.42 (1.54)	2.6	3.0	0.60
OS	0.21 (0.15)	96.7	0	3.3	0.60 (0.44)	0.7 (0.6)	1.90 (0.45)	1.6	3.0	0.23
NO	0.13 (0.10)	88.1	9.3	2.5	0.35 (0.30)	30.3 (14.5)	5.71 (1.57)	1.1	3.0	0.18
PS	0	-	-	-	0	191.8 (110.3)	19.17 (6.23)	3.0	2.2	0.25
IL	0.01 (0.01)	100	0	0	0.02 (0.03)	84.5 (20.6)	6.68 (1.74)	3.0	1.9	0.44
KO	0.02 (0.02)	100	0	0	0.05 (0.06)	2.9 (3.0)	16.65 (4.7)	3.0	1.0	0.28



Figure 6. Map showing the presence of large resident carnivore species, represented as 50x50 km grid cells, in northern Europe.



Figure 7. Map showing the presence of large resident herbivore species, represented as 50x50 km grid cells, in northern Europe.

The analysis of the mean forest loss per year as a proxy of forest management intensity showed a distinct west-east gradient in the boreal biome. This ranged from homogenously high values (>1% per year) in Sweden, Finland and Latvia to low and variable values in NW Russia (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Map showing forest management intensity using forest loss per year, represented by 50x50 km grid cells, in northern Europe.

3.2.2 Browsing damage analyses

A significant decrease in mean browsing damage from west to east across the boreal biome for aspen (F9,58= 10.01, df=9, p< 0.001), rowan (F9,67= 12.06, p< 0.001), sallow (F9,71= 13.87, p< 0.001) and Scots pine (F9,78= 17.47, p< 0.001) (Figure 9a, 9b, 9c & 9d respectively).



Figure 9. Estimates of mean damage level (\pm 95% CI) for the four young tree species. On a scale from 0 (unbrowsed) to 4 (dead by browsing) per stand, in the 10 boreal landscapes (for abbreviations, see Table 1).

Positive correlations (p<0.05) were observed for LH index vs. Tree damage and Herb sp vs. Tree damage, and negative correlations for tree browse (Tree layer) vs. LH index, Tree layer vs. Tree damage, and Herb sp vs. Tree layer, and Herb sp vs. Carn sp (Table 5).

The mean damage level on the four tree species at the landscape level increased as the large herbivore index increased (t=3.99, df=7, p=0.005, r^{2} = 0.59). However, there was no relationship between the mean damage level and forest management intensity (t=1.73, df=7, p=0.127, r^{2} = 0.06) (Figure 10).

Key variables	Formanint	LH index	Tree damage	Field layer	Tree layer	Carn sp	Herb sp
Formanint	1						
LH index	0.09	1					
Tree							
damage	0.40	0.80*	1				
Field layer	-0.13	-0.08	-0.34	1			
Tree layer	-0.38	-0.69*	-0.83*	0.36	1		
Carn sp	-0.10	0.11	-0.33	0.53	0.20	1	
Herb sp	0.23	0.50	0.74*	-0.17	-0.64*	-0.53*	1

Table 5. Correlation matrix for key variables in this study (data from Table 4, except tree damage, which was estimated as the mean of tree damage levels for the data presented in Figures 9 a, b, c, d). * indicates that p < 0.005.



Figure 10. Relationship between the large herbivore index (left) and forest management intensity (right), versus average damage levels of aspen, rowan, sallow, and Scots pine, among the 10 study areas in the European boreal biome.

The PCA axis 1 and 2 explained 74% of the variation in the dataset. The number of herbivore species, large herbivore index, damage of the four focal tree species, and forest management intensity index were all related to negative values of PC1. On the other hand, the number of large carnivore species, field, and tree layer food were related to positive values of PC1 (Figure 11). Note, however, field layer food was not correlated to any other variable (Table 5). Field layer food and number of large carnivore species were related to the negative values of PC2. Thus PC1 can be viewed as herbivore/young tree

damage versus young tree browse gradient, while PC2 can be viewed as a carnivore gradient.

The 10 study areas were grouped depending on similarity with regard to the variables in the PCA, with Novogrudok, Ostrovets, Vestfold and possibly Asa being one group, Østerdalen and Bergslagen another group and Komi, Ilomantsi and Pskov being a third group. Smiltene displayed intermediate values of most variables, and thus did not belong to any particular group.



Figure 11. PCA of the 10 boreal landscapes (for abbreviations, see Table 1), and the means for each landscape of the respective main variables of this study: forest management intensity (Formanint), number of herbivore species (Herb sp), number of carnivore species (Carn sp), large herbivore index (LH index), field layer food (Field food), tree layer food (Tree food), as well as mean damage for the focal tree species aspen, rowan, sallow and pine.

4 Discussion

4.1 Predators, prey and anthropogenic wet meadows (Paper I)

The predictions that the abundance of avian predators and predation rates should be higher in rapidly declining vs. relatively stable wader populations were supported (Paper I). The results thus indicate that the predation of wader eggs is a factor that contributes to explaining differences in population trends among waders. Firstly, the rapid assessment of wet meadows testing the relative abundance of avian predators and waders was three times higher in Kristianstad compared to Östergötland. Secondly, field observations showed that corvids, and to a slight extent birds of prey, were higher in the wet meadows and urban areas of Kristianstad compared to the Östergötland. Thirdly, the predation rates on artificial nests were much higher in Kristianstad compared to Östergötland. Therefore, predation contributes to wader decline in the Kristianstad landscape, and this is a factor that should be considered when planning and implementing conservation strategies for wader birds.

4.2 Predators, prey and boreal forests (Paper II)

The first prediction exploring the hypothesis that altered proportions of large carnivores and herbivores is correlated to reduced recruitment of deciduous tree species and Scots pine reaching maturity was supported. Thus, the macroecological design of the study showed a negative relationship between the number of large carnivore and herbivore species as this relationship formed a clear SW to NE European gradient. In general, higher levels of tree damages, more available tree layer browse, and a decreasing large herbivore index was evident in this gradient. However, the western-most study landscape, Vestfold in Norway, deviated from this general pattern. A likely reason for this deviation is that the region has had a long history of high browsing pressure by moose resulting in dramatic management actions to reduce the moose population (Solberg et al., 2006). Thus, the results suggest the Vestfold landscape is similar to the landscapes found further east such as Ostrovets or Novogrudok in Belarus. This argumentation is supported by both the observed clear overall relationship between mean browsing damage levels on the four tree species, and the large herbivore index. The second prediction that forest management intensity is correlated to browsing damage on the recruitment of deciduous tree species was not supported.

4.3 Trophic interaction in space and time

As shown in this thesis, understanding and managing the trophic interactions and associated cascading effects on the functionality of green infrastructures for biodiversity conservation is of the utmost importance. Both papers I & II show that trophic interaction's among predators, prey and different land covers need to be taken into account in both the governance and management of green infrastructures.

Using multiple landscapes spanning across regions and countries with unique past and current situations, such as this thesis, provides a broader perspective on what needs to be taken into account to maintain functional green infrastructures through governance and management of habitat in its complete and broad sense. Paper I shows that predator-prey relationships can result in undesirable outcomes for breeding wader populations on the anthropogenic wet meadows and that management decisions may impact conservation efforts.

The decision to conserve both avian predators (birds of prey) and their prey (waders) may lead to a mixture of human-human, human-wildlife and wildlifewildlife induced conflicts (Graham *et al.*, 2005), as paper I identifies. These decisions can have a chain reaction effect throughout society and ecosystems and thus may actually end up placing more pressure on the focal species and natural disturbance regimes. This appears to be the case in Kristianstad.

The macro-ecological approach of paper II indicates that homogenous natural resources policy and management regimes within individual countries in northern Europe has led to small differences in landscape characteristics and tree damage levels within countries. In comparison, the landscape characteristics and trophic interactions among different countries within the European boreal biome differ immensely based on their past and present land use histories (Danilov, 1987; Nygrén, 1987). However, it should be noted that also special management strategies at a local level within a country may cause variations as illustrated by the study in paper I and the two Norwegian landscapes in paper II. Such disturbances and changes to trophic interactions

do pose multiple threats to ecosystem services benefiting human well-being, as well as green infrastructure as habitats for species (Treves *et al.*, 2006; Treves & Karanth, 2003). Therefore, it is critical that studies such as this further investigate all levels of trophic interactions of predator, prey and vegetation, including both spatial and temporal scales. Thus there is a need to focus on the governance and management of entire ecosystems at appropriate scales.

Predator-prey relationships are an important feature of the European landscape, and can be viewed as a competition over space where predators try to maximise their spatial overlap with prey, and prey try to avoid the spatial overlap with predators (Sih, 2005). This thesis indicates that the trophic interactions among species (e.g., avian predators and waders, as well as large carnivores and herbivores and vegetation) need to be considered when managing for functional green infrastructures.

The hotly contested large carnivore debate in Scandinavia (e.g., Sjölander-Lindqvist, 2007) is a perfect example where direct and indirect disturbances have to a certain extent occurred, as highlighted in paper II of this thesis. As human policy has shaped the historic and current distribution and abundance of predator and prey, it is critically important to consider the predator prey relationships in context with human development (Muhly et al., 2011). This study supports Strandgaard (1982) and Cederlund and Bergström (1996) notions that reductions of large predators can lead to large increase in the herbivore population, and thus have a cascading effect on both deciduous trees species biodiversity and Scots pine. In addition, other studies have linked increases in herbivores to increases in lower level predator densities (especially corvid birds (cf. Tomialoic, 1990)) thus increasing the predation pressure on other smaller species at the landscape scale (Storaas, 1988). Paper II also support the assumption of Angelstam (1997) that a release of large herbivores through a lack of large carnivores may yield profoundly elevated browsing pressure. Therefore, it is important to consider how the outcomes of human decision making processes impact the interactions between predators, prey and competition. Thus, the governance and management of predators, prey and landscapes need be integrated with the maintenance of functional green infrastructures for biodiversity, and human well-being.

4.4 Green infrastructures in space and time

Green infrastructures are dynamic and do change in both time and space. This thesis shows that landscape history, governance and management can change ecosystems, and as a response alter trophic interactions and processes. While paper II suggests that forest management intensity does not correlate to the browsing damage on recruitment of ecologically important deciduous trees, and the economically important Scots pine, it is important to consider the effects that land use intensification places on ecosystems. Europe's various land use histories have shaped both anthropogenic and semi-natural green infrastructures (Angelstam, 1997). For instance, southern Sweden has long been considered a cultural landscape with small scale agriculture first introduced around 4000-5000 BP (Berglund, 1991). More recently the changes from tradition low production farming and forestry for survival to intensive farming and forestry for economic growth has seen further rapid complex alterations to green infrastructures and important ecosystem processes. As a result important wet meadow systems, such as Kristianstad, have undergone rapid change resulting in the loss of species and important ecosystem processes. Although wet meadows are anthropogenic landscapes, these land use changes have altered the once stable landscape that was maintained manually by people for agricultural purposes and thus created favourable habitats for many ground nesting birds such as waders. In comparison vast expanses of the boreal forest zone in Russia have only been exploited within the last two centuries (Naumov, 2014). Thus changes in land cover disturbance regimes may often affect species occurrence, abundance and the composition and structure of habitats, thus modifying the landscape mosaic in both time and space (Angelstam & Kuuluvainen, 2004).

4.5 Diagnosis of ecosystem as a base for learning

Functional green infrastructures provide a multitude of goods, services and values that benefit both biodiversity and human well-being (Norgaard, 2010). Anthropogenic wet meadows and natural forests are two green infrastructures along with many others that are facing the continued pressure of human development. A macro-ecological approach is a suitable tool to enhance learning about trophic interactions and their cascading effects. Combined with human sciences, comparative studies of different governance arrangements (e.g., Elbakidze *et al.*, 2010) could further aid the restoration, maintenance and development of green infrastructures for future generations.

For instance, within the last decade changes in societal awareness and the need to secure different green infrastructure has come to the fro resulting in new policy and modified management regimes (e.g., European Commission, 2013). To support implementation of such policies aiming at sustainable landscapes on the ground, Biosphere Reserve, Ecomuseum, Model Forest and other concepts have been developed as tools to support collaborative learning towards tangible results (Elbakidze *et al.*, 2013; Axelsson *et al.*, 2011). Forest

management in Sweden is no exception with the Swedish State Forest Company Sveaskog establishing a network of Ecoparks to preserve and restore natural landscapes, including mixed aged deciduous forests, and creating public recreation and educational areas. These approaches and concepts can be interpreted as integrating green infrastructure for both biodiversity and human health.

5 Conclusions

To conclude, in addition to understanding the role of land cover patches' size, quality, juxtaposition and matrix, trophic interaction are crucial to consider when addressing the maintenance of green infrastructures. Furthermore, it is important to understand the outcome of policies, governance and management decisions and their impacts on the trophic interactions of species at multiple scales. Using multiple landscapes as case studies that represent viable, declining and exterminated focal species populations is a valid approach to produce knowledge and encourage learning about what functional green infrastructures require. Additionally, different approaches to landscape governance need to be examined to understand if and how species populations can be managed and sustained in the long term. Finally, the combination of both local and regional studies to research predator-prey relationships and their effects may help to portray and easily disseminate digestible information to stakeholders and actors working with green infrastructures.

References

- Aakala, T. (2011). Temporal variability of deadwood volume and quality in boreal old-growth forests. *Silva Fennica*, 45(5), pp. 969-981.
- Abrams, P.A. & Ginzburg, L.R. (2000). The nature of predation: prey dependent, ratio dependent or neither? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 15(8), pp. 337-341.
- Andersson, E., Barthel, S., Borgström, S., Colding, J., Elmqvist, T., Folke, C. & Gren, Å. (2014). Reconnecting cities to the biosphere: stewardship of green infrastructure and urban ecosystem services. *AMBIO*, 43(4), pp. 445-453.
- Angelstam, P. (1986). Predation on ground-nesting birds' nests in relation to predator densities and habitat edge. *Oikos*, 47(3), pp. 365-373.
- Angelstam, P. (1997). Landscape analysis as a tool for the scientific management of biodiversity. *Ecological Bulletins*(46), pp. 140-170.
- Angelstam, P. (2001). Thresholds and time machines. Taiga News, 36(9).
- Angelstam, P. (2006). Maintaining cultural and natural biodiversity in Europe's economic centre and periphery. In: Agnoletti, M. (ed. *The conservation of cultural landscapes* CABI Publishing, pp. 125-143.
- Angelstam, P., Andersson, K., Axelsson, R., Elbakidze, M., Jonsson, B.G. & Roberge, J.-M. (2011a). Protecting forest areas for biodiversity in Sweden 1991–2010: Policy implementation process and outcomes on the ground. *Silva Fennica*, 45(5), pp. 1111-1133.
- Angelstam, P. & Andersson, L. (2001). Estimates of the needs for forest reserves in Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 16(3), pp. 38-51.
- Angelstam, P., Axelsson, R., Elbakidze, M., Laestadius, L., Lazdinis, M., Nordberg, M., Pătru-Stupariu, I. & Smith, M. (2011b). Knowledge production and learning for sustainable forest management on the ground: Pan-European landscapes as a time machine. *Forestry*, 84(5), pp. 581-596.
- Angelstam, P., Boutin, S., Schmiegelow, F., Villard, M.-A., Drapeau, P., Host, G., Innes, J., Isachenko, G., Kuuluvainen, T., Mönkkönen, M., Niemelä, J., Niemi, G., Roberge, J.-M., Spence, J. & Stone, D. (2004a). Targets for boreal forest biodiversity conservation: a rationale for macroecological research and adaptive management. *Ecological Bulletins*, 51, pp. 487-509.

Angelstam, P. & Dönz-Breuss, M. (2004). Measuring forest biodiversity at the stand scale: An evaluation of indicators in European forest history gradients. *Ecological Bulletins*, 51, pp. 305-332.

Angelstam, P. & Elbakidze, M. Sustainable forest management in Europe's East and West: trajectories of development and the role of traditional knowledge. In: Proceedings of Cultural Heritage and Sustainable Forest Management: The Role of Traditional Knowledge. Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe2006, pp. 353-361.

Angelstam, P., Elbakidze, M., Axelsson, R., Dixelius, M. & Tornblom, J. (2013a). Knowledge production and learning for sustainable landscapes: seven steps using social-ecological systems as laboratories. *AMBIO*, 42(2), pp. 116-28.

Angelstam, P., Grodzynskyi, M., Andersson, K., Axelsson, R., Elbakidze, M., Khoroshev, A., Kruhlov, I. & Naumov, V. (2013b). Measurement, collaborative learning and research for sustainable use of ecosystem services: landscape concepts and Europe as laboratory. *AMBIO*, 42(2), pp. 129-145.

Angelstam, P. & Kuuluvainen, T. (2004). Boreal forest disturbance regimes, successional dynamics and landscape structures: a European perspective. *Ecological Bulletins*, 51, pp. 117-136.

Angelstam, P., Mikusiński, G. & Fridman, J. (2004b). Natural forest remnants and transport infrastructure: does history matter for biodiversity conservation planning? *Ecological Bulletins*, 51, pp. 149-162.

Angelstam, P., Roberge, J.M., Lõhmus, A., Bergmanis, M., Brazaitis, G., Dönz-Breuss, M., Edenius, L., Kosinski, Z., Kurlavicius, P., Lārmanis, V., Lūkins, M., Mikusiński, G., Račinskis, E., Strazds, M. & Tryjanowski, P. (2004c). Habitat modelling as a tool for landscape-scale conservation: a review of parameters for focal forest birds. *Ecological Bulletins*, 51, pp. 427-453.

Angelstam, P.K., Anufriev, V.M., Balciauskas, L., Blagovidov, A.K., Borgegård, S.-O., Simon, J.H., Majewski, P., Ponomarenko, S.V., Shvarts, E.A., Tishkov, A.A., Tomialojc, L. & Wesolowski, T. (1997). Biodiversity and sustainable forestry in European forests: how East and West can learn from each other. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 25(1), pp. 38-48.

Antrop, M. (1993). The transformation of the Mediterranean landscapes: an experience of 25 years of observations. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 24, pp. 3-13.

Augustine, D.J. & McNaughton, S.J. (1998). Ungulate effects on the functional species composition of plant communities: herbivore selectivity and plant tolerance. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 62(4), pp. 1165-1183.

Axelsson, R., Angelstam, P., Elbakidze, M., Stryamets, N. & Johansson, K.-E. (2011). Sustainable development and sustainability: landscape approach as a practical interpretation of principles and implementation concepts. *Journal of Landscape Ecology*, 4(3), pp. 5-30.

Baillie, S.R., Sutherland, W.J., Freeman, S.N., Gregory, R.D. & Paradis, E. (2000). Consequences of large-scale processes for the conservation of bird populations. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 37(1), pp. 88-102.

- Balk, D.L., Deichmann, U., Yetman, G., Pozzi, F., Hay, S.I. & Nelson, A. (2006). Determining global population distribution: methods, applications and data. In: Hay, S.I., Graham, A. & David, J.R. (eds) *Advances in parasitology* 62). Oxford: Academic Press, pp. 119-156. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065308X05620040.
- Beintema, A.J. (1986). Man-made polders in the netherlands: a traditional habitat for shorebirds. *Colonial Waterbirds*, 9(2), pp. 196-202.
- Belsky, A.J. (1992). Effects of grazing, competition, disturbance and fire on species composition and diversity in grassland communities. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 3(2), pp. 187-200.
- Benedict, M.A. & McMahon, E.T. (2002). Green infrastructure: smart conservation for the 21st century. *Renewable Resources Journal*, 20(3), pp. 12-17.
- Berglund, B.E. (1991). Palaeoecology. Ecological Bulletins(41), pp. 31-35.
- Bergner, A. (2013). Fåglar på strandängar i Östergötland inventeringar 1996-2013. Länsstyrelsen Östergötland.
- Briske, D.D. (1996). Strategies of plant survival in grazed systems: a functional interpretation. In: Hodgson, J. & Illius, A. (eds) *The ecology and management of grazing systems*. Wallingford: CAB International, pp. 37-67.
- Brown, J.H. (1995). Macroecology. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Brumelis, G., Jonsson, B.G., Kouki, J., Kuuluvainen, T. & Shorohova, E. (2011). Forest naturalness in northern Europe: perspectives on processes, structures and species diversity. *Silva Fennica*, 45(5), pp. 807-821.
- Caro, T.M. & Stoner, C.J. (2003). The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 110(1), pp. 67-75.
- Carpenter, S.R., Kitchell, J.F. & Hodgson, J.R. (1985). Cascading trophic interactions and lake productivity. *BioScience*, 35(10), pp. 634-639.
- Cederlund, G. & Bergström, R. (1996). Trends in the moose—forest system in Fennoscandia, with special reference to Sweden. In: DeGraaf, R., M & Miller, R., I (eds) *Conservation of faunal diversity in forested landscapes*. London: Chapman & Hall, pp. 265-281.
- Columbia University (2011). Center for International Earth Science Information Network - CIESIN, International Food Policy Research Institute - IFPRI, The World Bank & Centro Internacional de Agricultura Tropical - CIAT (2011). Global Rural-Urban Mapping Project, Version 1 (GRUMPv1): Population density grid. Palisades, NY: NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC).
- Costanza, R., d'Agre, R., De Groot, R.S., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B.,
 Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton,
 P. & van der Belt, M. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. *Nature*, 385, pp. 253-260.
- Costanza, R. & Daly, H.E. (1992). Natural capital and sustainable development. *Conservation Biology*, 6(1), pp. 37-46.
- Côté, S.D., Rooney, T.P., Tremblay, J.-P., Dussault, C. & Waller, D.M. (2004). Ecological impacts of deer overabundance. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics,* 35, pp. 113-147.

- Cramp, S. (1980). Handbook of the birds of Europe, the Middle East, and North Africa: the birds of the Western Palearctic. Vol. 2, Hawks to bustards. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cramp, S., Perrins, C.M. & Brooks, D.J. (1980). Handbook of the birds of Europe, the Middle East, and North Africa: the birds of the western Palearctic. Vol. 8, Crows to finches. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Cronert, H. (2014). Strandängsfåglar i Vattenriket. Häckfågelkarteringarna och simultanräkningar. *Spoven*(1), pp. 1-19.
- Daily, G.C., Alexander, S., Ehrlich, P.R., Goulder, L., Lubchenco, J., Matson, P.A., Mooney, H.A., Postal, S., Schneider, S.H., Tilman, D. & Woodwell, G.M. (1997). Ecosystem services: benefits supplied to human societies by natural ecosystems. *Issues in Ecology*, 2(Spring).
- Danilov, P. (1987). Population dynamics of moose in USSR (literature survey, 1970-1983). *Swedish Wildlife Research*, 1, pp. 503-523.
- de Groot, R.S., Wilson, M.A. & Boumans, R.M.J. (2002). A typology for the classification, description and valuation of ecosystem functions, goods and services. *Ecological Economics*, 41, pp. 393-408.
- Donadio, E. & Buskirk, S.W. (2006). Diet, morphology, and interspecific killing in carnivora. *The American Naturalist*, 167(4), pp. 524-536.
- Durant, D., Tichit, M., Kernéïs, E. & Fritz, H. (2008). Management of agricultural wet grasslands for breeding waders: integrating ecological and livestock system perspectives—a review. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17(9), pp. 2275-2295.
- Dyrcz, A., Witkowski, J. & Okulewicz, J. (1981). Nesting of `timid' waders in the vicinity of `bold' ones as an antipredator adaption. *Ibis*, 123(4), pp. 542-545.
- Edenius, L., Bergman, M., Ericsson, G. & Danell, K. (2002). The role of moose as a disturbance factor in managed boreal forests. *Silva Fennica*, 36, pp. 57-67.
- Eglington, S.M., Gill, J.A., Bolton, M., Smart, M.A., Sutherland, W.J. & Watkinson, A.R. (2008). Restoration of wet features for breeding waders on lowland grassland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45(1), pp. 305-314.
- Eisenhardt, K.M. (1989). Building theories from case study research. *The Academy* of Management Review, 14(4), pp. 532-550.
- Elbakidze, M., Angelstam, P., Sandström, C. & Axelsson, R. (2010). Multistakeholder collaboration in Russian and Swedish model forest initiatives: adaptive governance toward sustainable forest management? *Ecology and Society*, 15(2), p. 14.
- Elbakidze, M., Hahn, T., Mauerhofer, V., Angelstam, P. & Axelsson, R. (2013). Legal framework for biosphere reserves as learning sites for sustainable development: a Ccmparative analysis of Ukraine and Sweden. *AMBIO*, 42(2), pp. 174-187.
- Elton, C.S. (1927). Animal ecology: University of Chicago Press.
- Ericsson, S., Östlund, L. & Axelsson, A.-L. (2000). A forest of grazing and logging: Deforestation and reforestation history of a boreal landscape in central Sweden. *New Forests*, 19(3), pp. 227-240.

- ESRI (2012). *ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10.1*. [Computer Program]. Redlands: CA: Environmental Systems Research Institute.
- Esseen, P.-A., Ehnström, B., Ericson, L. & Sjöberg, K. (1997). Boreal forests. *Ecological Bulletins*, 46, pp. 16-47.
- Estes, J.A., Terborgh, J., Brashares, J.S., Power, M.E., Berger, J., Bond, W.J., Carpenter, S.R., Essington, T.E., Holt, R.D., Jackson, J.B.C., Marquis, R.J., Oksanen, L., Oksanen, T., Paine, R.T., Pikitch, E.K., Ripple, W.J., Sandin, S.A., Scheffer, M., Schoener, T.W., Shurin, J.B., Sinclair, A.R.E., Soulé, M.E., Virtanen, R. & Wardle, D.A. (2011). Trophic downgrading of planet earth. *Science*, 333(6040), pp. 301-306.
- European Commission (2013). Green Infrastructure (GI) Enhancing Europe's Natural Capital. Communication from the commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the regions. : European Commission: Environment, Brussels.
- Fahrig, L. (2003). Effects of habitat fragmentation on biodiversity. *Annual Review* of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 34, pp. 487-515.
- Fisher, B., Turner, R.K. & Morling, P. (2009). Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. *Ecological Economics*, 68(3), pp. 643-653.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five misunderstandings about case-study research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12 (2), pp. 219-245.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2011). Case Study. In: Denzin, N.K. & S., L.Y. (eds) *The Sage Handbook of Qualative Research*. 4th. ed. CA Sage: Thousand Oaks, pp. 301-316.
- Franklin, A.B., Noon, B.R. & George, T.L. (2002). What is habitat fragmentation? *Studies in Avian Biology*, 25, pp. 20-29.
- Gergle, S.E. & Turner, M.G. (2001). *Learning landscape ecology: A practicle guide to concepts and techniques*. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Gordon, I.J. & Prins, H.H. (2008). *The ecology of browsing and grazing*195). Berlin: Springer.
- Graham, K., Beckerman, A.P. & Thirgood, S. (2005). Human–predator–prey conflicts: ecological correlates, prey losses and patterns of management. *Biological Conservation*, 122(2), pp. 159-171.
- Hall, L.S., Krausman, P.R. & Morrison, M.L. (1997). The habitat concept and a plea for standard terminology. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, pp. 173-182.
- Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Tyukavina, A., Thau, D., Stehman, S.V., Goetz, S.J., Loveland, T.R., Kommareddy, A., Egorov, A., Chini, L., Justice, C.O. & Townshend, J.R.G. (2013). High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science*, 342, pp. 850-853.
- Hester, A., Bergman, M., Iason, G. & Moen, J. (2006). Impacts of large herbivores on plant community structure and dynamics. In: Danell, K., Bergstrom, R., Duncan, P. & Pastor, J. (eds) *Large Herbivore Ecology, Ecosystem Dynamics and Conservation*. 11. ed. (Conservation Biology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hodgson, J. & Illius, A.W. (1996). *The ecology and management of grazing systems*. Wallingford: CAB international.

- Ihse, M. (1995). Swedish agricultural landscapes patterns and changes during the last 50 years, studied by aerial photos. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 31(1–3), pp. 21-37.
- IUCN The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Downloade .
- Jarvis, A., Reuter, H.I., Nelson, A. & Guevara, E. (2008). Hole-filled seamless SRTM data V4. *International Centre for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT)*.
- Kaczensky, P., Chapron, G., Von Arx, M., Huber, D., Andrén, H. & Linnell, J. (2012). Status, management and distribution of large carnivores-bear, lynx, wolf & wolverine in Europe. Brussels: European Commission.
- Kearney, M. (2006). Habitat, environment and niche: what are we modelling? *Oikos*, 115(1), pp. 186-191.
- Kennedy, G.G. & Barbour, J.D. (1992). Resistance variation in natural and managed systems13): University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Kumar, P. (2010). *The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: ecological and economic foundations*. London: UNEP/Earthprint.
- Larsson, T.-B., Angelstam, P., Balent, G., Barbati, A., Bijlsma, R.-J., Boncina, A., Bradshaw, R., Bücking, W., Ciancio, O., Corona, P., Diaci, J., Dias, S., Ellenberg, H., Fernandes, F.M., Fernández-Gonzalez, F., Ferris, R., Frank, G., Møller, P.F., Giller, P.S., Gustafsson, L., Halbritter, K., Hall, S., Hansson, L., Innes, J., Jactel, H., Dobbertin, M.K., Klein, M., Marchetti, M., Mohren, F., Niemelä, P., O'Halloran, J., Rametsteiner, E., Rego, F., Scheidegger, C., Scotti, R., Sjöberg, K., Spanos, I., Spanos, K., Standovár, T., Svensson, L., Tømmerås, B.Å., Trakolis, D., Uuttera, J., VanDenMeersschaut, D., Vandekerkhove, K., Walsh, P.M. & Watt, A.D. (2001). Biodiversity evaluation tools for European forests. *Ecological Bulletins*, 50, pp. 1-237.
- Latham, J. (1999). Interspecific interactions of ungulates in European forests: an overview. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 120(1–3), pp. 13-21.
- Leopold, A. (1933). Game management. 481 pp. *Charles Scribner's Sons, New York*.
- Lõhmus, A. & Lõhmus, P. (2011). Old-forest species: the importance of specific substrata vs. stand continuity in the case of calicioid fungi. *Silva Fennica*, 45(5), pp. 1015-39.
- McComb, W. & Lindenmayer, D. (1999). Dying, dead, and down trees. Maintaining Biodiversity in Forest Ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 335-372.
- Mech, L.D. & Boitani, L. (2010). *Wolves: behavior, ecology, and conservation*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Meijden, E.v.d., Wijn, M. & Verkaar, H.J. (1988). Defence and regrowth, alternative plant strategies in the struggle against herbivores. *Oikos*, 51(3), pp. 355-363.
- Mikusiński, G. & Angelstam, P. (1998). Economic geography, forest distribution, and woodpecker diversity in central Europe. *Conservation Biology*, 12(1), pp. 200-208.
- Mikusiński, G. & Angelstam, P. (1999). Man and deciduous trees in boreal landscape. In: Kovar, P. (ed. *Nature and Culture in Landscape Ecology*.

Experience for the 3rd Millenium. Prague: The Karolinum Press, pp. 220-224.

- Mikusiński, G. & Angelstam, P. (2004). Occurrence of mammals and birds with different ecological characteristics in relation to forest cover in Europe: do macroecological data make sense? *Ecological Bulletins*, 51, pp. 265-275.
- Muhly, T.B., Semeniuk, C., Massolo, A., Hickman, L. & Musiani, M. (2011). Human activity helps prey win the predator-prey space race. *Plos One*, 6(3), p. e17050.
- Müller, J., Bußler, H., Goßner, M., Rettelbach, T. & Duelli, P. (2008). The European spruce bark beetle Ips typographus in a national park: from pest to keystone species. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17(12), pp. 2979-3001.
- Månsson, J., Andrén, H., Pehrson, Å. & Bergström, R. (2007). Moose browsing and forage availability: a scale-dependent relationship? *Canadian Journal* of Zoology, 85(3), pp. 372-380.
- Naumov, V. (2014). Intensification of wood production in NW Russia's Komi republic: Forest landscape history and biophysical conditions for tree growth. Diss. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Nilsson, S.G. & Ericson, L. (1997). Conservation of plant and animal populations in theory and practice. *Ecological Bulletins*(46), pp. 117-139.
- Norgaard, R.B. (2010). Ecosystem services: From eye-opening metaphor to complexity blinder. *Ecological Economics*, 69(6), pp. 1219-1227.
- Noss, R.F. (1990). Indicators for Monitoring Biodiversity: A Hierarchical Approach. *Conservation Biology*, 4(4), pp. 355-364.
- Nygrén, T. (1987). The history of Moose in Finland. *Swedish Wildlife Research*, 1, pp. 49-54.
- Oksanen, L., Fretwell, S.D., Arruda, J. & Niemela, P. (1981). Exploitation ecosystems in gradients of primary productivity. *The American Naturalist*, 118(2), pp. 240-261.
- Opdam, P., Foppen, R., Reijnen, R. & Schotman, A. (1995). The landscape ecological approach in bird conservation: integrating the metapopulation concept into spatial planning. *Ibis*, 137, pp. S139-S146.
- Ottvall, R. (2005). Nest survival among waders breeding on coastal meadows: the relative importance of predation and trampling damages by livestock. *Ornis Svecica*, 15, pp. 89-96.
- Ottvall, R., Edenius, L., Elmberg, J., Engström, H., Green, M., Holmqvist, N., Lindström, Å., Pärt, T. & Tjernberg, M. (2009). Population trends for Swedish breeding birds. *Ornis Svecica*, 19(3), pp. 117-192.
- Ottvall, R. & Smith, H.G. (2006). Effects of an agri-environment scheme on wader populations of coastal meadows of southern Sweden. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 113(1–4), pp. 264-271.
- Pace, M.L., Cole, J.J., Carpenter, S.R. & Kitchell, J.F. (1999). Trophic cascades revealed in diverse ecosystems. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 14(12), pp. 483-488.
- Paine, R.T. (1980). Food Webs: Linkage, Interaction Strength and Community Infrastructure. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 49(3), pp. 667-685.

- Pasanen-Mortensen, M., Pyykönen, M. & Elmhagen, B. (2013). Where lynx prevail, foxes will fail – limitation of a mesopredator in Eurasia. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 22(7), pp. 868-877.
- Pasanen Mortensen, M. (2014). *Anthropogenic impact on predator guilds and ecosystem processes: apex predator extinctions, land use and climate change.* Diss. Stockholm: Stockholm University.
- Pearce-Higgins, J.W. & Grant, M.C. (2006). Relationships between bird abundance and the composition and structure of moorland vegetation. *Bird Study*, 53(2), pp. 112-125.
- Pehlak, H. & Lõhmus, A. (2008). An artificial nest experiment indicates equal nesting success of waders in coastal meadows and mires. *Ornis Fennica*, 85, pp. 66-71.
- Putman, R., Langbein, J., Green, P. & Watson, P. (2011). Identifying threshold densities for wild deer in the UK above which negative impacts may occur. *Mammal Review*, 41(3), pp. 175-196.
- Puumalainen, J., Kennedy, P. & Folving, S. (2003). Monitoring forest biodiversity: a European perspective with reference to temperate and boreal forest zone. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 67(1), pp. 5-14.
- Raivio, S., Normark, E., Pettersson, B. & Salpakivi-Salomaa, P. (2001). Science and the management of boreal forest biodiversity - Forest industries' views. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 16(sup003), pp. 99-104.
- Ripple, W.J. & Beschta, R.L. (2004). Wolves and the ecology of fear: can predation risk structure ecosystems? *BioScience*, 54(8), pp. 755-766.
- Schekkerman, H. (2008). *Precocial problems: Shorebird chick performance in relation to weather, farming, and predation*. Diss.: Alterra, Wageningen University and Research Centre.
- Schmidt, K., Jędrzejewski, W., Okarma, H. & Kowalczyk, R. (2009). Spatial interactions between grey wolves and Eurasian lynx in Białowieża Primeval Forest, Poland. *Ecological Research*, 24(1), pp. 207-214.
- Shorohova, E. & Tetioukhin, S. (2004). Natural disturbances and the amount of large trees, deciduous trees and coarse woody debris in the forests of Novgorod Region, Russia. *Ecological Bulletins*(51), pp. 137-147.
- Sih, A. (2005). Predator-prey space use as an emergent outcome of a behavioural response race. In: Barbosa, P. & Castellanos, I. (eds) *Ecology of predatorprey interactions*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 240-255.
- Siitonen, J. (2001). Coarse woody debris and saproxylic organisms: Fennoscandian boreal forests as an example. *Ecological Bulletins*, 49, pp. 11-41.
- Simberloff, D. (1998). Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones: Is single-species management passé in the landscape era? *Biological Conservation*, 83(3), pp. 247-257.
- Sjölander-Lindqvist, A. (2007). Local Identity, Science and Politics Indivisible: The Swedish Wolf Controversy Deconstructed. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, 10(1), pp. 71-94.
- Smart, J., Gill, J.A., Sutherland, W.J. & Watkinson, A.R. (2006). Grasslandbreeding waders: identifying key habitat requirements for management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43(3), pp. 454-463.

- Speed, J.D.M., Austrheim, G., Hester, A.J., Meisingset, E.L., Mysterud, A., Tremblay, J.-P., Øien, D.-I. & Solberg, E.J. (2014). General and specific responses of understory vegetation to cervid herbivory across a range of boreal forests. *Oikos*, 123(10), pp. 1270–1280.
- Storaas, T. (1988). A comparison of losses in artificial and naturally occurring Capercaillie nests. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 52(1), pp. 123-126.
- Strandgaard, S. (1982). Factors Affecting the Moose Population in Sweden During the 20th Century with Special Attention to Silviculture. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Wildlife Ecology, Report 8, p. 31 pp.
- Stryamets, N. (2012). Use and governance of non-wood forest products in transition and market economies. Diss. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Svensson, L., Grant, P.J., Mullarney, K., Zetterström, D. & Christie, D. (2009). *Collins bird guide*. London: HarperCollins.
- Säterberg, T., Sellman, S. & Ebenman, B. (2013). High frequency of functional extinctions in ecological networks. *Nature*, 499(7459), pp. 468-470.
- TEEB (2010). The economics of ecosystems and biodiversity: Mainstreaming the economics of nature: A synthesis of the approach, conclusions and recommendations of TEEB. Malta.
- Tomialojc, L. (1990). Ptaki Polski, rozmieszcenie i liczebnosc. *Panstwowe wydawnictvo naukove, Warszawa*.
- Treves, A. & Karanth, K.U. (2003). Human-Carnivore Conflict and Perspectives on Carnivore Management Worldwide. *Conservation Biology*, 17(6), pp. 1491-1499.
- Treves, A., Wallace, R.B., Naughton-Treves, L. & Morales, A. (2006). Comanaging human–wildlife conflicts: a review. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 11(6), pp. 383-396.
- Tzoulas, K., Korpela, K., Venn, S., Yli-Pelkonen, V., Kaźmierczak, A., Niemela, J. & James, P. (2007). Promoting ecosystem and human health in urban areas using Green Infrastructure: A literature review. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 81(3), pp. 167-178.
- Van Horne, B. (1983). Density as a misleading indicator of habitat quality. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 47(4), pp. 893-901.
- Westman, W.E. (1990). Managing for biodiversity. BioScience, 40(1), pp. 26-33.
- Whittaker, R.H., Levin, S.A. & Root, R.B. (1973). Niche, habitat, and ecotope. *The American Naturalist*, 107(955), pp. 321-338.
- Wiens, J.A. (1989). Spatial scaling in ecology. *Functional Ecology*, 3(4), pp. 385-397.
- Wilson, A., Vickery, J. & Pendlebury, C. (2007). Agri-environment schemes as a tool for reversing declining populations of grassland waders: Mixed benefits from environmentally sensitive areas in England. *Biological Conservation*, 136(1), pp. 128-135.
- Wilson, J.D., Anderson, R., Bailey, S., Chetcuti, J., Cowie, N.R., Hancock, M.H., Quine, C.P., Russell, N., Stephen, L. & Thompson, D.B.A. (2014). Modelling edge effects of mature forest plantations on peatland waders

informs landscape-scale conservation. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 51(6), pp. 204-213.

- Yin, R.K. (1981). The case study crisis: some answers. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 26(1), pp. 58-65.
- Young, T.P. (2000). Restoration ecology and conservation biology. *Biological Conservation*, 92, pp. 73-83.

Acknowledgements

Financial support for this thesis has been provided by the project "Green infrastructures" funded by FORMAS. I would also like to recognise the partnership agreement between the SLU's School for Forest Management and Aleksandras Stulginskis University in Lithuania for facilitating my education.

Special thanks to my supervisor Per Anglestam for your passion, inspiration, ideas, wealth of knowledge and good friendship. A big thank you to Gediminas Brazaitis for providing the Lithuanian support, supervision, demanding conversations and the ground work to host me in Lithuania. Gratitude to Robert Axelsson and his family for helping me find my feet at the start of my Licentiate and all their great advice. I would also like to the entire Forest-Landscape-Society Research Network, including Marine Elbakidze, Pablo Garrido, Vladimir Naumov and Mikel Angelstam for many deep discussions and your support. Especially I would like to acknowledge the late Kjell Andersson, for his help, passion, knowledge and contribution to GIS and the team over the years. Others that have contributed and helped me over the short journey are Torgny Söderman for your patience, Annette Byrén for all your admin help, and all the many people who have contributed along the way. Finally I would like to deeply thank my family for their encouragement and support.